# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO; COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES; COUNTY OF ORANGE; COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO; and COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES; STATE OF CALIFORNIA; DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA; JOHN CHIANG in his official capacity as California State Controller,

Defendants and Respondents.

Case No.

FILED

FEB **6** 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D068657
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. 37-2014-00005050-CU-WM-CTL
Honorable Richard E. L. Strauss, Judge Presiding

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

XAVIER BECERRA

### ISSUES PRESENTED

When the Commission on State Mandates determines that the Legislature has mandated a new program or higher level of service on any local government, the California Constitution requires the State to reimburse the local government for the costs of complying with that statutory mandate. A statute does not create a state mandate, however, if it imposes duties that are necessary to implement, or that are expressly included in, a ballot measure approved by the voters. (See Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (f).) When the State's responsibility for the costs of a statutory mandate is modified by a subsequent change in law, such as a voter initiative, the Commission on State Mandates is authorized to issue a decision directing that the State is no longer required to pay those costs. (*Id.*, § 17570, subd. (b).) In this case, the Court of Appeal adopted a "narrow construction" of Government Code sections 17556, subdivision (f) and 17570, holding that a voter initiative that modifies a statute previously

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the time Plaintiffs and Appellants filed the underlying complaint, John Chiang held the Office of California State Controller. Betty Yee, having been duly elected on November 4, 2014, now holds that Office. Counsel of record for the former Controller and present Controller remains the same.

found to impose a state mandate does not change the State's financial responsibility for the mandate unless it "changes the duties imposed by the statutes." (Slip opn., p. 25.) The issues presented in this case are:

- (1) Whether the rule adopted by the Court of Appeal, which focuses exclusively on whether a voter initiative modifies the language of the statutory section or subdivision that imposes a statutory mandate, and does not allow consideration of other ways in which an initiative may modify the scope, nature, or source of that mandate, complies with the Government Code and the Constitution.
- (2) Whether and to what extent the State remains responsible for the costs of duties imposed on local government by the Sexually Violent Predators Act, which the voters amended and partially re-enacted when they approved Proposition 83.

### INTRODUCTION

The first principle of state mandates law is that the State is responsible for reimbursing local government for the costs of statutory duties only if the duties are mandated by "the Legislature or any state agency." (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, § 6, subd. (a).) The State's responsibility "for mandated costs does not include ballot measure mandates." (*California School Board Assn. v. California* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 1183, 1206.) And even if the State was once determined to be responsible for the costs of a statutory duty, it is no longer financially responsible if that duty is necessary to implement, or expressly included in, a subsequent ballot initiative approved by the voters. (Gov. Code, §§ 17556, subd. (f), 17570, subd. (b).) This Court should grant review to resolve the important question of how to determine whether a voter initiative has shifted responsibility for the costs of a statutory mandate from the State to local governments.

Definitive guidance from this Court on that question would assist the Commission on State Mandates and the lower courts in adjudicating disputes over how properly to allocate the costs associated with statutory mandates. Those disputes can have profound consequences for state and local budgets—as in this case, where the controversy centers on duties imposed by the Sexually Violent Predators Act that collectively cost more than \$20 million per year. This Court's guidance would also assist the voters, and state and local governments, by facilitating an accurate understanding of the fiscal consequences of proposed initiatives.

Review is particularly important because the Court of Appeal's published opinion adopted a new rule that is at odds with the Government Code and basic principles of state mandates law. That rule focuses exclusively on whether the voter initiative has modified the language of the specific statutory section or subdivision that imposes the mandate. It does not allow for consideration of other ways in which an initiative may alter the State's financial responsibility for the mandate, such as by making changes that transform the nature of the duty, including changes in the surrounding statutory framework that render the duty "necessary to implement" the initiative. (Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (f).) Absent review by this Court, the Court of Appeal's rule threatens to create confusion and mischief in this consequential area of the law.

# LEGAL BACKGROUND

# I. LAW ON STATE MANDATES

The State is obligated to reimburse local government for the costs of a program or increased level of service "[w]henever the Legislature or any state agency mandates a new program or higher level of service on any local government." (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, § 6, subd. (a); see Gov. Code, § 17514.) The Government Code implements this constitutional requirement. (See Gov. Code, § 17500 et seq.) Among other things, it directs that certain categories of costs are "not . . . mandated by the state," including costs associated with federal law and statutory "duties that are

necessary to implement, or are expressly included in, a ballot measure approved by the voters in a statewide or local election." (*Id.*, § 17556, subd. (f).) That exception "applies regardless of whether the statute or executive order was enacted or adopted before or after the date on which the ballot measure was approved by the voters." (*Ibid.*)

The Commission on State Mandates was created by statute in 1984. (See Gov. Code, § 17500.) The Commission is authorized to decide whether a statute imposes a "state-mandated" cost on local governments within the meaning of the Constitution and the Government Code. (*Id.*, § 17551, subd. (a).) Local agencies must file a test claim with the Commission to establish that they are entitled to reimbursement for such a cost. (See *ibid.*) If the Commission decides that a statute creates a state mandate, the Legislature may either appropriate funds to reimburse the affected local agencies for the costs of the mandate, or suspend operation of the mandate for that fiscal year. (See Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, § 6, subd. (b)(1).)

In 2010, the Legislature enacted a statute authorizing the Commission to "adopt a new test claim decision to supersede a previously adopted test claim decision . . . upon a showing that the state's liability for that test claim decision . . . has been modified based on a subsequent change in law." (Gov. Code, § 17570, subd. (b).) The term "subsequent change in law" is defined, in relevant part, as "a change in law that requires a finding that an incurred cost is a cost mandated by the state, as defined by Section 17514, or is not a cost mandated by the state pursuant to Section 17556 . . . . " (Id., § 17570, subd. (a)(2).)

# II. THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS ACT

The Legislature originally enacted the statutes commonly referred to as the Sexually Violent Predators Act (SVPA) in the mid-1990s. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600 et seq.; Stats. 1995, ch. 762-763; Stats. 1996,

ch. 4.) The SVPA establishes procedures for the screening, evaluation, commitment, and detention of certain offenders following the completion of their prison terms. Welfare and Institutions Code section 6600 defines the term "sexually violent predator." (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subd. (a)(1).) If the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation determines that an inmate may qualify as a sexually violent predator, that person generally must be screened at least six months before the scheduled release date. (*Id.*, § 6601, subds. (a)-(b).) Inmates who are "likely to be a sexually violent predator" must be referred to the Department of State Hospitals for a full evaluation of whether they meet the statutory definition of sexually violent predator. (See id., § 6601, subds. (b)-(h).) If that Department determines that a person meets the statutory definition, the Director of State Hospitals must "forward a request for a petition to be filed for commitment" to the appropriate county. (Id., § 6601, subd. (h)(1).) County officials are then responsible for a variety of duties in connection with that person, such as reviewing records to determine if the county concurs with the recommendation for commitment, preparing and filing the civil commitment petition, attending the probable cause hearing and civil commitment trial, and participating in future hearings regarding the condition of offenders who have been committed. (See, e.g., id., §§ 6601, subd. (i), 6602-6604.)

In 1998, the County of Los Angeles filed a test claim with the Commission seeking reimbursement for costs it incurs in complying with requirements of the SVPA. The Commission decided that the SVPA imposed eight duties on counties that were state-mandated and therefore

reimbursable. (See AR 3; slip opn., pp. 8-9.)<sup>2</sup> Those duties included, for example, "[p]reparation and attendance by the county's designated counsel and indigent defense counsel at the probable cause hearing," at the "civil commitment trial," and "at subsequent hearings regarding the condition of the sexually violent predator." (AR 3; see slip opn., pp. 8-9.) As a result of that decision, the State has reimbursed counties for the costs incurred in performing these duties. The State's 2013-2014 budget, for example, appropriated \$21.79 million to reimburse counties for the costs of carrying out the eight SVPA duties during 2011-2012. (AR 41.)

# III. PROPOSITION 83

In 2006, the voters approved Proposition 83, a statewide ballot initiative. (See Prop. 83, as approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 7, 2006).) The intent of Proposition 83 was "to strengthen and improve the laws that punish and control sexual offenders." (*Id.*, § 31.) Among other things, Proposition 83 expanded the population of offenders subject to the SVPA: it broadened the definition of "sexually violent predator" and removed the ceiling on the number of juvenile adjudications that could count as a "sexually violent offense." (Compare Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subds. (a)(1), (g) with Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600, subds. (a)(1), (g) as codified at Stats 2006, ch. 337, § 53.) Proposition 83 also amended four sections of the Welfare and Institutions Code, which contain six of the eight statutory duties that the Commission had previously determined to be statemandated. (See Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 6601, 6604, 6605, and 6608.) As required by the California Constitution, the Proposition "re-enacted as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "AR" stands for the Administrative Record. "JA" stands for the Joint Appendix filed in conjunction with the Counties' Opening Brief in the Court of Appeal.

amended" all four of those statutory sections. (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 9.)<sup>3</sup> Finally, Proposition 83 directed that "[t]he provisions of this act shall not be amended by the Legislature except by a statute passed in each house by a rollcall vote entered in the journal, two-thirds of the membership of each house concurring, or by a statute that becomes effective only when approved by the voters." (Prop. 83, § 33.)<sup>4</sup>

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013, the Department of Finance asked the Commission to reconsider its 1998 mandate decision regarding the SVPA in light of Proposition 83. (See AR 31-131.) The Department of Finance argued that voter approval of Proposition 83 brought the eight statutorily mandated duties under Government Code section 17556, subdivision (f), which excludes from reimbursement those duties expressly included in, or necessary to implement, a voter-approved ballot measure. (See AR 37-40.) After briefing and public hearings, the Commission determined that six of the eight SVPA duties had become non-reimbursable, voter-imposed mandates as a result of Proposition 83. (See AR 602-672.)

The Counties of San Diego, Los Angeles, Orange, Sacramento, and San Bernardino sought review of the Commission's decision, filing a petition for a writ of administrative mandamus along with a complaint for declaratory relief in the superior court. (See JA 1-24; Code Civ. Proc, §§ 1094.5, 1060.) The superior court upheld the Commission's decision,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Article IV, section 9 directs that a "statute may not be amended by reference to its title. A section of a statute may not be amended unless the section is re-enacted as amended." (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 9.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> That requirement is subject to an exception for amendments to "the provisions of this act to expand the scope of their application or to increase the punishments or penalties provided herein," which require only a "majority vote of each house." (Prop. 83, § 33.)

reasoning that voter approval of Proposition 83 constituted a subsequent change in law that modified the State's financial responsibility. (See JA 366-367.) It also rejected the Counties' arguments that aspects of the statutes governing test-claim determinations were unconstitutional. (See JA 366-368.)

The Counties appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, which reversed in a published opinion. The threshold question addressed by the Court of Appeal was how to determine whether a voter initiative "converted the duties . . . that the Commission previously determined were state-mandated[] into duties that are instead mandated by the People," and therefore no longer reimbursable by the State. (Slip opn., p. 24.) The court viewed this as a "novel question" that is "not easily answer[ed]" by the relevant provisions of the Government Code. (Id. at p. 25.) Adopting a "narrow construction" of those provisions, the court held "that a ballot initiative that modifies statutes previously found to impose a state mandate only changes the source of the mandate if the initiative changes the duties imposed by the statutes." (*Ibid.*) In applying that rule, the court reviewed the sections of the Welfare and Institutions Code that the Commission had determined imposed state-mandated duties in its 1998 decision; compared their text as originally enacted and as reenacted by the voters in Proposition 83; and asked whether the Proposition modified any of the specific language that the Commission had found to impose a duty. (See id. at pp. 26-29, 31.) Based on that comparative analysis of the statutory text, the court concluded that Proposition 83 "did not change any of the duties the law imposed on the Counties" and that the duties "were not affected by Proposition 83." (Id. at pp. 26, 29.) The court dismissed the argument that other changes to the law made by Proposition 83 could alter the State's financial responsibility by affecting the nature and scope of the SVPA duties. (*Id.* at p. 32.) It also rejected the argument that

the Legislature was no longer the source of those statutory duties that were re-enacted, in their entirety, by Proposition 83. (*Id.* at pp. 33-36.) After concluding that the SVPA duties remain state mandates notwithstanding the changes voters made to the law in Proposition 83, the Court of Appeal suggested that the Legislature remains free to suspend any or all of those mandates. (See slip opn., pp. 36-37.)

# REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Review in this case is necessary to settle an important question of state mandates law. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The State is only responsible for the cost of statutory mandates imposed by the Legislature or a state agency, and the Government Code recognizes that a mandate that was once reimbursable by the State may no longer be reimbursable after it is modified by a voter initiative. (See Gov. Code, §§ 17556, subd. (f), 17570, subd. (b).) By granting review in this case, the Court can definitively resolve the legal standard governing when financial responsibility for such a mandate shifts from the State to local governments, and avoid uncertainty that might otherwise result from the Court of Appeal's published opinion below.

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD SET A CLEAR STANDARD FOR DETERMINING IF A VOTER INITIATIVE HAS SHIFTED FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR A STATUTORY MANDATE

There is a pressing need for a clear decision from this Court on this issue for at least four reasons.

First, the questions presented by this case have profound consequences for the State budget—and for those of counties and local government agencies across the State. The annual costs associated with the SVPA duties in dispute here, for example, have exceeded \$20 million in recent years. (See, e.g., AR 41.) Moreover, there are numerous statutory provisions, on a wide range of subjects, that have been determined to

impose reimbursable state mandates.<sup>5</sup> Given the volume of voter initiatives in this State, additional state mandates will surely be the subject of future initiatives. Clarity on this issue will give policymakers at the state and local level greater ability to predict whether such initiatives could shift costs from the State to local governments. But the Court of Appeal's rule threatens to create confusion on that subject. (See *post*, pp. 16-18.)

Second, a clear and definitive standard is also essential to the fair resolution of disputes over who must pay for the costs of statutory mandates. For example, Government Code section 17570, subdivision (b), one of the statutes construed by the Court of Appeal, defines when the Commission on State Mandates may adopt a new test-claim decision based on "a subsequent change in law." Absent review by this Court, the Court of Appeal's "narrow construction" of that provision (slip opn., p. 25) will inform future test-claim disputes before the Commission and the lower courts. This Court's review would ensure that, in future proceedings, the costs of complying with statutorily mandated duties that have been modified by a voter initiative are allocated in a manner consistent with the Constitution and the Government Code.

Third, the Court of Appeal's discussion of the Legislature's suspension authority is problematic. The Constitution authorizes the Legislature to suspend mandates it has imposed on local governments as an alternative to reimbursement (see Cal. Const., art XIIIB, § 6, subd. (b)), and that flexibility is a critical part of state mandates law. The Court of Appeal suggested that the Legislature remains free to suspend any or all of the SVPA mandates. (See slip opn., pp. 36-37.) That puts the Legislature in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See generally State-Mandated Programs, California State Controller <a href="http://www.sco.ca.gov/ard\_mancost.html">http://www.sco.ca.gov/ard\_mancost.html</a> [as of Jan. 30, 2017].

the awkward position of either funding duties that have been substantially modified by the voters, or suspending them and potentially undermining a voter initiative. This Court can resolve that dilemma by adopting a standard that preserves the line between state mandates imposed by the Legislature and voter mandates imposed by a ballot initiative. (See Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (f).)

Fourth, clear guidance from this Court is necessary to facilitate reliable analyses of the fiscal consequences of proposed initiatives. Before any proposed voter initiative is circulated for signatures, the Department of Finance and the Legislative Analyst are required to prepare an "estimate of the amount of any increase or decrease in revenues or costs to the state or local government" that would result from the initiative. (Elec. Code, § 9005, subds. (a)-(b).) The Attorney General must include a short description of that estimate along with the circulating title and summary for the initiative, (id., § 9005, subd. (a)), and voters may rely on that estimate in deciding whether to sign a petition to put an initiative on the ballot. Similarly, for initiatives that appear on the ballot, the Legislative Analyst must prepare a fiscal analysis for the voter information guide. (Id., § 9087, subd. (a).) Voters may rely on that analysis when they cast their ballots on Election Day. An accurate analysis necessarily entails consideration of whether the initiative would shift liability for the costs of any statutory mandate from the State to local governments.

In short, clear guidance from this Court would advance the interests of voters, local governments, and the State by facilitating accurate estimates and legal determinations regarding the fiscal consequences of voter initiatives. If this Court were instead to postpone review of the question, uncertainty arising from the Court of Appeal's opinion would persist, making it more difficult to determine whether an initiative shifts financial responsibility for state mandates from the State to local governments.

# II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S "NARROW" RULE IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE GOVERNMENT CODE

The need for review by this Court is heightened by the published opinion of the Court of Appeal, which adopted a rule that is inconsistent with the Government Code. The court concluded that the Government Code is "ambiguous" as to the "novel question" of "how the source of the mandate should be characterized when a statutory provision previously found to impose a state mandate is amended by a ballot initiative." (Slip opn., p. 25.) With little analysis or explanation, it "adopt[ed] a narrow construction of sections 17556, subdivision (f) and 17570," directing that "a ballot initiative that modifies statutes previously found to impose a state mandate only changes the source of the mandate if the initiative changes the duties imposed by the statutes." (*Ibid.*)

In applying that rule, the Court of Appeal made clear that the rule is focused exclusively on whether an initiative altered the statutory text describing a mandatory duty, and not on whether the initiative made other changes affecting the nature or scope of that duty. (See slip opn., pp. 26-29, 31.) For example, the court noted that Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601, subdivision (i), formed the basis of three of the mandated SVPA duties identified in the Commission's 1998 decision. (See *id.* at pp. 8, 26, fn. 9.) It rejected any argument that those duties were affected by Proposition 83—including by Proposition 83's expansion of the population subject to the SVPA—on the ground that "Proposition 83 amended only subdivision (k) of Welfare and Institutions Code section 6601" and did not alter the terms of subdivision (i). (*Id.* at p. 26, fn. 9.)

By focusing narrowly on whether an initiative changed the statutory subdivision imposing a duty, without any consideration of other statutory changes that could affect that duty, the Court of Appeal's rule conflicts with the Government Code. The Government Code directs that the costs of

complying with statutory duties are "not . . . mandated by the state" if the duties "are necessary to implement, or are expressly included in, a ballot measure approved by the voters in a statewide or local election." (Gov. Code, § 17556, subd. (f).) That language contemplates that altering the text of a statutory duty is not the only way a voter initiative can modify the State's financial responsibility for that duty. If, for example, the initiative changes the surrounding law in a way that renders a duty "necessary to implement" the initiative, section 17556 directs that the costs of that duty are no longer reimbursable by the State. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal ignored that possibility. It reasoned that "section 17556, subdivision (f), does not apply" unless the initiative modifies the specific statutory subdivision that has been found to impose a state mandate. (Slip opn., p. 29; *see, e.g., id.* at p. 26, fn. 9.)

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