IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO; COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES; COUNTY OF ORANGE; COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO; and, COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

٧.

COMMISSION ON STATE MANDATES; STATE OF CALIFORNIA; DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA; JOHN CHIANG, in his official capacity as California State Controller; and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive,

Defendants/Respondents

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA; and DOES 11 through 25,

Defendants/Respondents

Case No. S239907

SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 2 7 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

INTRODUCTION

Defendants and Respondents, Department of Finance, State Controller and the State of California (hereinafter referred to as "Petitioners") urge this Court to accept review of this matter, repeatedly arguing that review is needed to "avoid uncertainty that might otherwise result from the Court of Appeal's published opinion below." (Petition, p. 13.) In fact, the Court of Appeal's opinion does just the opposite. The opinion brings clarity to a number of important issues relating to state mandates law. It's simply that in this case, Petitioners disagree with the Court of Appeal's rulings.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I.

REVIEW IS NOT NECESSARY TO SETTLE AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW OR TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION

A petition for review may be granted when necessary to settle an important question of law or secure uniformity of decision. (Cal. Rules of Ct., rule 8.500(b)(1).) As detailed below, there is no basis for review here. There is no issue to be settled because the Court of Appeal: (1) issued a clear rule for analyzing whether a voter initiative relieves the State of fiscal responsibility for a mandate; (2) correctly concluded that the Counties continue to be entitled to reimbursement for the costs incurred in performing activities mandated by the State as required by the Sexually Violent Predators Act ("SVPA") (Chapter 1995, Chs. 762, 763; Stats.

1996, Ch. 4; and (3) applied well established rules of statutory construction in reaching its conclusion. There also is no need to secure uniformity of decision because the opinion is consistent with existing case law.

II.

THE COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ADOPT A "NEW RULE" THAT IS AT ODDS WITH THE GOVERNMENT CODE AND BASIC PRINCIPLES OF STATE MANDATE LAW

The Court of Appeal held "that a ballot initiative that modifies statutes previously found to impose a state mandate only changes the source of the mandate if the initiative changes the duties imposed by the statutes." (Slip Opinion, p. 25.) Contrary to the arguments advanced by Petitioners, this rule is both clear and consistent with the provisions of the Government Code and California Constitution relating to mandates and the State's obligation to provide a subvention of funds.

Petitioners' first argument is that the opinion will "have profound consequences for the State budget – and for those counties and local government agencies across the State." (Petition, p. 13.) Yet the State merely continues to have reimbursement obligations for the duties it mandated that local government perform. Contrary to the argument advanced by Petitioners, the opinion *does* provide clarity for policy makers and voters regarding when costs may be shifted from the State to local governments. The opinion applies well established statutory interpretation principles in its review of the California Constitution and relevant

Government Code provisions to conclude that unless an initiative changes the duties imposed by a statute, the obligation to fund the mandate remains with the State.

Next, Petitioners argue review is necessary to "ensure that, in future proceedings, the costs of complying with statutorily mandated duties that have been modified by a voter initiative are allocated in a manner consistent with the Constitution and the Government Code." (Petition, p. 14.) This argument is also without merit. It is premised on the assumption that the mandated duties have been modified by a voter initiative, a position that the opinion rejects. (Slip Opinion, *passim.*) Moreover, the opinion expressly rejects Petitioners' interpretation of the relevant provisions of the Constitution and the Government Code.

Finding that Government Code §§ 17556 and 17570 are ambiguous, the opinion adopts "a statutory construction that 'harmonizes the statute[s] internally and with related statutes' and that preserves the constitutionality of the statutes. [Cites omitted]" (Slip Opinion, p. 25.) The opinion explains that "[d]efining a 'subsequent change in the law' to include *any* modification to a state-mandated program by ballot initiative, as the Commission did, and not limiting the provisions to those modifications that change the duties imposed on local government (or that impose new duties) directly conflicts with [the] constitutional dictate" that precludes the State from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies. (Slip Opinion, p. 33.)

Petitioners further argue that the opinion's "discussion of the Legislature's suspension authority is problematic" placing "the Legislature in the awkward position of either funding duties that have been substantially modified ... or suspending them. ... " (Petition, pp. 14-15.) .) However, the Court of Appeal directly addresses that point and makes clear that the ability of the State to suspend a mandate is based on the source of the mandate. (Slip Opinion, p. 37.) The first question is whether the source of the mandate is the Legislature or an initiative. The answer to that question determines whether the State has the authority to suspend the mandate. It does not, as Petitioners suggest, resolve the question of the source of the mandate. Thus Petitioners' argument that the Legislature cannot suspend the mandates continues to put "the cart before the horse," as the Court of Appeal correctly notes. (Ibid.) Petitioners' argument is based on the false premise that the duties imposed on the Counties were substantially modified by Proposition 83. In addition, the Legislature's "position" has not changed; it must fund state mandated duties unless it acts to suspend them. (Slip Opinion, p. 37.)

Finally, Petitioners argue that "clear guidance" is necessary to enable the Department of Finance and the Legislative Analyst to accurately estimate the "increase or decrease in revenues or costs to the state of local government' that would result from [an] initiative. (Cite omitted.)" (Petition, p. 15.) However, the opinion provides clear guidance: there is no "subsequent change in law" that could

affect funding obligations when a voter initiative simply reenacts statutory provisions without change. (Slip Opinion, p. 16.) In fact, exactly the opposite is true. As the Counties argued in the Court of Appeal, "[t]he interpretation advocated by the DOF and adopted by the Commission is untenable. If allowed to stand, no voter, local official, or legal analyst could accurately predict whether state mandated subvention would cease to exist when a ballot measure mentions existing law, even if just in passing." As it stands, the opinion avoids the uncertainty created by the Commission's interpretation of "subsequent change in law," under which it appeared that a voter initiative could effect a change in the law merely by re-enacting existing provisions.

III.

PETITIONERS' CHARACTERIZATION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISION IS MISLEADING

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeal focused exclusively on "whether an initiative alters the text directly imposing the mandated duty" (Petition, p. 18) and erroneously concluded "that 'section 17556, subdivision (f), does not apply' unless the initiative modifies the specific statutory subdivision that has been found to impose a state mandate." (Petition, p. 17.) This argument misstates the ruling of the Court. As stated above, the Court held "that a ballot initiative that modifies statutes previously found to impose a state mandate only changes the source of the mandate if the initiative changes the duties imposed by the statutes." (Slip

Opinion, p. 25. Emphasis added.) The issue addressed by the Court was whether the "initiative changes the duties imposed by the statutes", not whether the specific language in a statute that imposed the mandate has been modified. Because the Court found that the initiative in this case did not change the statutory duties given the facts of this case, it correctly held that the mandated activities remain reimbursable.

IV.

PETITIONERS' ARGUMENT THAT THE INITIATIVE SUBSTANTIALLY ENLARGED THE SCOPE OF THE MANDATED DUTIES IS CONTRARY TO THE STATE'S OWN AUDIT RESULTS

While acknowledging that "Proposition 83 did not materially alter the statutory text describing the specific SVPA duties" Petitioners claim that "it did change the law in ways that modified the State's financial responsibility for those duties." (Petition, p. 18.) In support of this claim, Petitioners argue that changes to other provisions in the SVPA "substantially enlarged the population of offenders for whom the counties must perform the required SVPA duties." (Petition, p. 18.) The superior court considered and relied on Petitioners' misleading and belated offer of proof on this point over the Counties' objections, and the Court of Appeal did not expressly rule on the Counties' objections to this offer of proof on appeal. Regardless, the Counties refuted Petitioners' claim that the offender population had increased.

The Counties cited to a report by the California State Auditor on the Sex Offender Commitment Program, wherein the State's Auditor concluded that "despite the increased number of evaluations, Mental Health recommended to the district attorneys or the county counsels responsible for handling SVP cases . . . about the *same number of offenders* in 2009 as it did in 2005 before the voters passed Jessica's Law." (California State Auditor, Sex Offender Commitment Program July 2011 Report 2010-116, http://www.bsa.ca.gov/pdfs/reports/2010-116.pdf at p. 15.) (Emphasis added).

In any event, as the Court of Appeal correctly notes, the inquiry is the source of the duty. (Slip Opinion, p. 32.) The size of the population entitled to receive the mandated services does not change the source of the duty. The changes merely have the potential to increase the volume of work, but not the nature of the activities themselves. The eight mandated activities continue to be provided in exactly the same manner notwithstanding the changes made to the program by Proposition 83. The Court of Appeal, therefore, properly rejected Petitioners' argument about case load.

PETITIONERS IGNORE THE COURT OF APPEAL'S FINDING THAT COUNTIES INTERPRETATION OF THE CHANGES TO THE SVPA BY PROP 83 IS CONSISTENT WITH THE LONG ESTABLISHED "REENACTMENT RULE"

The Court of Appeal found that its interpretation of the effect of Proposition 83 on the State's responsibility to provide a subvention of funds to Counties for the costs of the SVPA mandate was "also supported by the 'reenactment rule' advanced by the Counties." (Slip Opinion, p. 34.) Although the entire statute must be reenacted when a section is amended (Cal. Const., art. IV, § 9), under the "reenactment rule" unaltered portions of the statute are not considered to have been repealed and reenacted. (Gov. Code §9605.) The Court found that "[u]nder the rule, it is the *actual changes* made by Proposition 83 that are relevant to the inquiry of whether the initiative changed the source of the mandate. To the extent that the [W & I] Code provisions were restated by the initiative to comply with the restatement rule, those restatements are not relevant. [Cites omitted.]" (*Id.*)

Petitioners argue that this application of the reenactment rule "appears to be in tension with at least one other Court of Appeal opinion" citing *Shaw v. People ex rel. Chiang* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 577, 597. Petitioners did not cite the *Shaw* decision in the Court of Appeal and they do not show that *Shaw* is inconsistent with the decision in the present case. *Shaw* addressed the meaning of language in

an initiative limiting the Legislature's ability to amend a statute that had been included in the initiative. After lengthy analysis and discussion, the *Shaw* court concluded that the statute's "language. . . that allows legislative amendment of 'this section' if the amendment is 'consistent with and furthers the purposes of this section' must be read to authorize the Legislature to amend any part of the . . . statute as long as the amendment is consistent with and furthers the purposes of that particular part of the statute." (*Id.* 175 Cal.App.4th 577 at 601-602.)

The court in *Shaw* did not consider the effect of an initiative on unchanged portions of an existing statute, and did not address Government Code section 9605, its predecessor, or the decades of case law interpreting and applying those provisions. (See, *Central Pac. R.R. Co. v. Shackelford* (1883) 63 Cal. 261, 265; *Swamp Land Dist. No. 307 v. Glide* (1896) 112 Cal. 85, 90; *Hellman v. Shoulders* (1896) 114 Cal. 136, 151; *County of Sacramento v. Pfund* (1913) 16 Cal. 84, 88; *Vallejo etc. R.R. Co. v. Reed Orchard Co.* (1918) 177 Cal. 249, 255; *City of Los Angeles v. Pacific Land Corp.* (1940) 41 Cal.App.2d 223, 225; *In re Oluwa* (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 439, 446; *Huening v. Eu* (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 766; *American Lung Assn. v. Wilson* (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 743, 748; *People v. Cooper* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 38, 44, fn. 4; *St. John's Well Child & Family Center v. Schwarzenegger* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 960, 984.)

CONCLUSION

Counties respectfully submit that the petition for review be denied because the opinion does not create a conflict in the law or raise any important issue that needs to be resolved by this Court.